PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. Respondent was the prosecution and Appellee in the lower courts. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. The symbol "R" will denote record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged and convicted of armed robbery and possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. Count I alleged that Petitioner committed robbery " ... and in the course thereof, there was carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, to wit: a handgun, said firearm or other deadly weapon being in the possession of Robert Lee Hall...." Count I cited Sections 812.13(1), 812.13(2)(a) and 775.087(2), Florida Statutes. Count II alleged that Petitioner " ... did then and there unlawfully display, use, threaten to use, or attempt to use a firearm, or carry a concealed firearm, to wit: a handgun, while committing or attempting to commit a felony, to wit: robbery" Count II cited Sections 790.07(2) and 812.13, Florida Statutes (R 177, 179-180).

On appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Petitioner argued that he was improperly convicted on Count II because it was a lesser included offense of Count I. The District Court of Appeal rejected this argument and affirmed. However, the court confessed to "a sense of uneasiness with this result", and certified to this court as a question of great public importance the following (copy of opinion attached as appendix to this brief):

IN THE WAKE OF STATE v. GIBSON, 452 So.2d 553
(FLA. 1984), MAY AN OFFENSE PROSCRIBED BY
SECTION 790.07(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, EVER BE
CONSIDERED A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THE
PROSCRIPTION OF SECTION 812.13(1) AND (2),
FLORIDA STATUTES?

Jurisdiction of this Court was invoked by Notice of Discretionary Jurisdiction filed July 12, 1985.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In State v. Gibson, this Court held that Section 790.07(2), Florida Statutes, proscribes two distinct offenses: (1) use, display, etc., of a firearm in a felony, and (2) carrying a concealed firearm in a felony. This Court further held that offense (1) is not a lesser included offense of armed robbery with a firearm. The instant case, in contrast, involves offense (2) as well as (1), since both were alleged in the information. Offense (2) is in fact a lesser included offense of armed robbery, since both statutes use the word "carry". Because one of the alternative allegations in the firearm count in the instant case was a lesser of the robbery count, the firearm count was a lesser included offense of the robbery count, and a separate conviction and sentence should not have been allowed.

ARGUMENT

IN THE WAKE OF STATE v. GIBSON, 452 So.2d 553 (FLA. 1984), MAY AN OFFENSE PROSCRIBED BY SECTION 790.07(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, EVER BE CONSIDERED A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THE PROSCRIPTION OF SECTION 812.13(1) AND (2), FLORIDA STATUTES?

ANSWER: YES.

The answer to the question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal is yes. Moreover, the instant case presents the situation where carrying a firearm in the commission of a felony is indeed a lesser included offense of armed robbery. Here, Count I alleged that Petitioner committed robbery " ... and in the course thereof, there was carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, to wit: a handgun, said firearm or other deadly weapon being in the possession of Robert Lee Hall" Count II alleged that Petitioner " ... did then and there unlawfully display, use, threaten to use, or attempt to use a firearm, or carry a concealed firearm, to wit: a handgun, while committing or attempting to commit a felony, to wit: Robbery" (R 177). Because of the way that Count II was alleged, it was a lesser included offense of Count I. A separate conviction and sentence for a lesser included offense is prohibited. Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1983); State v. Gibson, 452 So.2d 553, 557 (Fla. 1984).

In Gibson, supra, this Court dealt with the same two statutes in question in the instant case, and also set forth the analytical method by which it is to be determined whether one

offense is a lesser included offense of another. The analytical method consists of applying the "Blockburger test" to the elements of the two crimes in question as set forth in the applicable statutes. See, Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). The inquiry involves neither the actual allegations in the charging instrument nor the factual elements of evidentiary proof presented at trial; reference is to be made only to the statutes. Gibson, 452 So.2d at 556. See also, State v. Baker, 456 so.2d 419, 420 (Fla. 1984). The Blockberger test, as adapted by this Court in Gibson, to be applied to the statutory elements may be stated as follows: if one offense has at least one statutory element that the other does not, then it is a separate crime and not a lesser included offense. If, on the other hand, all elements of one offense are subsumed by the elements of the other, then it is a lesser included offense and separate convictions and sentences are prohibited. 452 So.2d at 556.

This Court in Gibson dealt only with one of the two offenses defined in section 790.07(2), the firearm in a felony statute. In footnote 1, this Court stated that the statute proscribes two distinct offenses: (1) Use, display, or attempt or threaten to use a firearm while committing a felony, and (2) Carrying a concealed firearm while committing a felony. It was further noted in the same footnote that the only offense at issue in Gibson was (1) Use, display, etc. This Court also stated in footnote 5 that the distinction between the two offenses defined

by the statute might make a difference under the Blockburger rule. The instant case presents the situation wherein the distinction does indeed make a crucial difference.

In contrast to Gibson, which involves only the first of the two offenses in the statute, the instant case involves both use, display, etc., and (2) carrying a concealed firearm while committing a felony. In contrast to Gibson, in the instant case both offenses were alleged in the alternative in Count II of the information (R 177). Therefore, the Blockburger analysis must be applied to both parts of the statute, not just the one part in Gibson which this Court held not to be a lesser included offense of armed robbery.

Applying the Blockburger test to the statutory elements involved in the instant case, it is apparent that Count II indeed charged a lesser included offense of Count I. The relevant portion of Section 812.13(2(a), the statute charged in Count I, states " ... in the course of committing the robbery the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon ... " (emphasis added). The second statutory alternative in Section 790.07(2), the alternative alleged in the instant case in Count II but not alleged in Gibson, states: " ... while committing or attempting to commit any felony ... displays, uses, threatens or attempts to use any weapon ... or carries a concealed weapon ... " (emphasis added). It is apparent on the face of the statutes themselves that "carries a concealed weapon" is the same as "carried a firearm or other deadly weapon". Only the most strained semantic

sophistry could lead to a conclusion that the two statutory provisions, both of which clearly use the word carry, are not equivalent.

In Gibson this court found that "carried a firearm or other deadly weapon" was not the same as "use, display," etc. It is evident, however, when analyzing the second alternative of the statute left untouched by this court in Gibson, that carrying a concealed weapon is the same element as carrying a firearm or other deadly weapon. It is true that under the armed robbery statute the weapon carried does not necessarily have to be concealed as it does under the firearm in a felony statute. However, a concealed firearm would certainly satisfy the robbery statute, and therefore this element in the firearm in a felony statute makes the latter offense a lesser of armed robbery.

Thus, one of two statutory alternatives for use of a firearm in a felony pled in the instant case, the one not dealt with in Gibson, was a lesser included offense of the armed robbery also charged. Even though the other alternative charged, the one held by Gibson not to be a lesser included offense, was also charged here, the presence of the alternative allegation means that the entire count must be considered a lesser included offense of Count I. Under the charging language, the jury was equally empowered find Petitioner guilty of the statutory alternative which was a lesser included offense as it was to find him guilty of the alternative which was not, and the verdict itself provides no clue as to which choice, if any, was ever made (R 180).

In contrast to Gibson, in the instant case this Court must hold that the second offense delineated in Section 790.07(2) is a lesser included offense of armed robbery, and further answer the District Court of Appeal's certified question in the affirmative. The legislature's expressed intent in Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, (1983), is that there shall be no double conviction or sentence for lesser included offenses. The Blockburger test establishes that the offense in question in the instant case is indeed a lesser included offense. Moreover, since it has been established that one of the offenses involved here is a lesser included offense of the other, the constitutional double jeopardy clause also proscribes multiple convictions and sentences. Bell v. State, 437 So.2d 1057, 1060 (Fla. 1983); Article 1, Section 9, Florida Constitution; Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, United States Constitution.