PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the Appellee in the court below and prosecution in the trial court. Petitioner was the Appellant in the court below and the defendant in the trial court. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The	following	symbols	will	be	used	1:		
''R''		R	ecord	on	Appe	eal		
"IB"		Iı	nitial	L Bi	rief	of	Petitioner	

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts as presented in Petitioner's initial brief.

POINT INVOLVED

IN THE WAKE OF STATE v. GIBSON, 452 So.2d 553 (FLA. 1984), MAY AN OFF-ENSE PROSCRIBED BY SEC-TION 790.07(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, EVER BE CON-SIDERED A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THE PROSCRIP-TION OF SECTION 812.13 (1) AND (2), FLORIDA STATUTES?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Use of a firearm during the commission of a felony is not a lesser included offense of robbery while armed, and thus, Petitioner was properly convicted of and sentenced for both crimes. Because the facts of the instant case are identical to the facts in <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 452 So.2d 553 (Fla.1984) the conviction and sentence as to Court II should be affirmed under the authority of <u>Gibson</u> and leave answering the certified question under a case with the appropriate set of facts.

ARGUMENT

IN THE WAKE OF <u>STATE v</u>. <u>GIBSON</u>, 452 So.2d 553 (FLA. 1984), MAY AN OFF-ENSE, PROSCRIBED BY SEC-TION 790.07(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, EVER BE CON-SIDERED A LESSER INCLUD-ED OFFENSE OF THE PRO-SCRIPTION OF SECTION 812.13(1) AND (2), FLORIDA STATUTES?

Petitioner contends that because Count II of the Information (R 177) charged him with unlawful "display, use, threaten to use, or attempt to use a firearm, or carry a <u>concealed firearm</u>," Count II is a lesser included offense of Count I, robbery while armed, and that therefore his conviction and sentence under Count II must be vacated. Respondent disagrees. Because the language in the information simply tracks the language of \$790.07(2) <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983), the case <u>sub judice</u> is undistinguishable and, therefore, controlled by this Court's holding in <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 452 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Gibson</u>, this Honorable Court stated:

The offense of robbery while armed contains, in addition to its other constituent statutory elements, the element that the accused carried a firearm or other deadly weapon. The elements of the crime do not include displaying the weapon or using it in

perpetrating the robbery. The offense of display or use of a firearm while committing a felony contains as one of its constituent statutory elements that the offender displayed, used, or attempted or threatened to use a firearm during the commission of a felony. It is clear that each of these offenses contains at least one constituent statutory element that the other does not.

452 So.2d at 556, 557. The Court went on to lay the issue to rest by holding:

[W]e now determine that use or display of a firearm in committing a felony is not a lesser included offense of robbery while armed but, rather, was intended by the legislature as a separate offense to be separately prosecuted and punished even where based on a single act or closely connected group of acts. (Footnote omitted.) Id at 557.

Petitioner argues that in <u>Gibson</u>, this Court stated that §790.07(2) proscribes two distinct offenses, and that because of the way that Count II was alleged, it was a lesser included offense of Count I. In an attempt to rebut Petitioner's arguments, Respondent will point out that this Court in <u>Gibson</u>, 452 So.2d n. 1 at 554-5 and n. 4 at 556 made it very clear that the record was not complete to allow the Court to determine which of the two offenses proscribed by §790.07(2) was the respondent therein charged with and convicted of; but the Court decided <u>Gibson</u> "on the assumption that 'use or display,' etc., [was] the offense in question." Therefore, although the <u>Gibson</u> Court emphasized that under <u>Borges v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 1265

(Fla. 1982) the determination of whether two statutory offenses are the same offense by reason of one being a lesser included offense of the other, is to be made only by examining the statutory elements of the offense rather than the allegations in the charging instrument or the factual elements of the evidentiary proof presented at trial, Respondent feels it is absolutely necessary to refer to the information, the evidence presented at trial, and the jury charge to properly answer the points raised by the Petitioner in his initial brief, and to clearly show this case is identical to, and therefore controlled by <u>Gibson</u>.

In the instant case it is important to note that the information (R 177) simply tracked the statutory language as to each count. As to Count I, the information alleges Petitioner "carried a firearm or other deadly weapon." And as to Count II, also merely tracking the language of the statute, it is alleged that Petitioner "did then and there unlawfully display, use, threaten to use, or attempt to use a firearm, or carry a concealed firearm." The elements of robbery while armed, are (1) a taking of money or other property that may be the subject of larceny; (2) from the person or custody of another; (3) by force, violence, assault, or putting in fear; and (4) that the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon in the course of committing the robbery. See Gibson, supra at 556, and §872.13 (1), (2) (a), Fla. Stat. (1983). To support a conviction under Count I the State proved that Petitioner robbed a gas station operator at gun point when Petitioner pulled out a gun and

ordered the operator to fill a bag up with money (R 32-34). Once Petitioner had the money he ran out and disappeared (R 35). As to Count I, the State did <u>not</u> have to prove - - although it in fact did - - that Petitioner <u>displayed</u> or <u>used</u> or <u>threatened</u> to use a firearm.

Under Count II, the State did not have to prove that Petitioner committed <u>a robbery</u> in order to convict him under §790.07(2); but the State must prove more than the fact that the defendant carried a firearm. To support a conviction under §790.07(2) the State can prove the accused committed any felony including aggravated assault when he displayed the firearm, <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983), which is usually the case when a person displays a firearm during the commission of a robbery.

Contrary to Petitioner's allegations simply because the information tracked the statutory language that does not mean Petitioner was charged in the alternative with the offenses of §790.07(2), nor does it mean that the entire count must be considered a lesser included offense of Count I. This Court in <u>Gibson</u> already held that the "use, display," etc., offense is not a lesser included offense of robbery. As to the second offense proscribed by §790.07(2), "carrying a concealed firearm" while committing or attempting to commit a felony, is a separate offense which was not involved in <u>Gibson</u>. <u>Gibson</u>, <u>supra</u>, n.4 at 556. Thus, this Honorable Court not having to rule on that portion of §790.07(2) did not do so. Likewise in the instant case, the second offense of §790.07(2) is not

involved in this case, and therefore the conviction and sentence of Petitioner should be summarily affirmed under the authority of <u>Gibson</u>. <u>See State v. Brown</u>, 455 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v. Charles Baker</u>, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v</u>. <u>Thomas Baker</u>, 452 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v. Marshall</u>, 455 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1984).

Petitioner further argues that the jury was "equally empowered [to] find Petitioner guilty of the statutory alternative which was a lesser included offense as it was to find him guilty of the alternative which was not, and the verdict itself provides no clue as to which choice, if any, was ever made." (IB 8). But Petitioner fails to take into account the clear and complete jury instructions given to the jurors by Judge Garrett before the jury retired to deliberate. Without any objection by the defense counsel, the trial judge instructed the jury:

> As to Count II, before you can find the Defendant guilty of a person engaged in a criminal offense, having a weapon, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

One, the Defendant dsiplayed, threatened to use or attempted to use a firearm.

Two, he did so while committing or attempting to commit the felony of robbery, and those elements of robbery are merely defined for you. (R 139-140)

It is clear from the quoted passage that the trial judge did not mention any alternative offense under Count II; and that the jury was well aware that finding Petitioner guilty as to Count II meant finding him guilty of the "use or display" of a firearm during the commission of the robbery in violation of \$790.07(2). The jury was not forced or asked to make a choice between the two offenses of \$790.07(2).

Further, at no time during the trial was any allegation made as to the Petitioner carrying a concealed weapon, as opposed to him using and displaying the firearm during the robbery.

For the above stated reasons, Respondent maintains the case <u>sub judice</u> is controlled by <u>State v. Gibson</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Fourth District Court in its June 12, 1985, Opinion (Appendix I) properly found that Petitioner was convicted of "armed robbery and use and display of a weapon while engaged in a criminal offense" and that "neither crime is a lesser included offense of the other."

As a consequence of this Court's decision in <u>Gibson</u> and the facts of the instant case, this Court must affirm Petitioner's conviction and sentence as to Count II, and decline to answer the certified question awaiting a case wherein a person is charged with both committing a robbery <u>and</u> carrying a concealed firearm while committing or attempting to commit the robbery.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, supported by the circumstances and authorities cited herein, Respondent would respectfully request this Honorable Court to approve the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which AFFIRMED the conviction and sentence imposed upon Petitioner under both Counts I and II of the information.